FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
7/1/2019 9:20 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/18/2019
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97443-8

In the

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GREGG A. LOUGHBOM,

Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 35668-0-III; Lincoln County District Court No.
17-1-00028-8

Corey Evan Parker
WSBA No. 40006
Attorney for Petitioner
1275 12th Ave NW, Suite 1B
Issaquah, Washington 98027
Ph: 425-221-2195
Fax: 1-877-802-8580
corey@coreyevanparkerlaw.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Gregg A. Loughbom (“Mr. Loughbom”) is the Petitioner in this Petition for Discretionary Review. Mr. Loughbom, currently in the custody of the Department of Corrections, is serving a sentence of 40 months for convictions of delivery of a controlled substance with a school zone enhancement and conspiracy to deliver a controlled substance.

II. DECISION

Mr. Loughbom seeks this Court’s review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, in Case No. 35668-0-III, dated June 4, 2019, affirming Mr. Loughbom’s convictions. A true copy of the Court of Appeals’ decision is appended hereto as *Attachment “A”*.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mr. Loughbom seeks review of the Court of Appeals’ decisions pursuant to RAP 13.4 based on the following issue:

1. WHETHER THE PROSECUTION ENGAGED IN FLAGRANT AND ILL-INTENTIONED MISCONDUCT BY FRAMING THE CASE AGAINST MR. LOUGHBOM AS “YET ANOTHER BATTLE IN THE ONGOING WAR ON DRUGS THROUGHOUT OUR STATE AND THROUGHOUT OUR NATION AS A WHOLE.”

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Trial and Sentencing

Mr. Loughbom was charged by Information with three drug-related offenses, to wit, Count I: Delivery of a Controlled Substance -

Acetaminophen and Hydrocodone; Count II: Delivery of a Controlled Substance - Methamphetamine; and Count III: Conspiracy to Deliver a Controlled Substance other than Marijuana, along with school zone enhancements under RCW 69.50.435. CP 1-2, 20, 31. The charges arose from an investigation using a confidential informant (“CI”) to conduct two “controlled buys” from Mr. Loughbom on December 20 and 31, 2016. CP 3-5.

On October 18, 2017, the matter proceeded to trial before a jury in the Lincoln County Superior Court. 10.18.2017 Verbatim Report of Proceedings 1 (“VRP,” hereinafter). During voir dire, the prosecution began tying the present case in with the broader nationwide drug epidemic, asking the jurors “[a]re there any among you who believe that we have a drug problem in Lincoln County? Wow, okay. Just about everything [sic].” VRP 52:25-53:2. The prosecution continued with this theme in opening argument, introducing the case by telling the jurors “[t]he case before you today represents yet another battle in the ongoing war on drugs throughout our state and throughout our nation as a whole.” VRP 87:7-9.

Continuing with the State’s “war on drugs” theme, Detective Roland Singer (“Det. Singer”), who administered the “controlled buys”, testified “sometimes we deal with confidential informants that are not

under contract, they just come in because they *want to change or help fight the drug problem that we have in our county*, most of the time.”

VRP 103:23-25 (emphasis added).

After discussing his general procedures of using CIs to conduct controlled purchases of drugs using “marked money,” Det. Singer testified regarding two alleged controlled purchases of drugs from Mr. Loughbom, occurring on December 20 and 31, 2016, in connection with which Andy Colt (“Mr. Colt”) was the CI. VRP 105:11-117:19. Det. Singer described the procedure he would have used for the controlled buys, testifying that he would have searched Mr. Colt’s person and then, following the search, provided him with “marked money” and sent him into the target residence. VRP 106:9-16, 111:1-8.

Mr. Colt testified that for the first controlled buy, he called a “friend,” identified as “Kevin”, and then went to this friend’s garage, where he met Mr. Loughbom for a “hand to hand” methamphetamine sale. VRP 128:4-10; 138:25-139:21. With respect to the second controlled buy, Mr. Colt testified that he purchased hydrocodone pills from a “Wanda” at “Wanda’s” house, and that he knew the pills to have come from Mr. Loughbom based on conversations he had and based on his observation that Mr. Loughbom returned to “Wanda’s” the following day to retrieve the purchase proceeds. VRP 130:2-131:16.

During cross-examination, Mr. Colt discussed his pending criminal charges and advised that he hoped to get leniency from the prosecution in exchange for his service as a CI. VRP 140:15-25.

With respect to both controlled buys, Det. Singer testified that he obtained and executed search warrants of the respective residences where the transactions took place. However, the marked money was never recovered. VRP 116:14-23, 123:20-22. In fact, nothing belonging to Mr. Loughbom, connected to Mr. Loughbom, or otherwise implicating Mr. Loughbom was found during the searches of either location. VRP 122:17-123:3.

At the outset of its closing argument, the State again reminded the jury “[t]he case before you represented another battle in the ongoing war on drugs throughout our state and the nation as a whole.” NRP¹ 183:4-6. Following up on this point again in rebuttal, the prosecutor emphasized to the jury that law enforcement often has to engage with

¹ During the trial, apparently due to a technical failure, 103 minutes of the trial were not recorded and thus not transcribed. VRP 167:21-22. This gap in the recording began during the testimony of Jayne Elizabeth Wilhelm, a supervising forensic scientist for the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab. VRP 166:1-67:20. The transcript resumes towards the end of defense counsel’s closing argument. VRP 167:23-68:8. The parties were able to reconstruct a Narrative Report of Proceedings (“NRP”) regarding the prosecutor’s closing argument, but did not reconstruct Wilhelm’s testimony, which is believed to have consisted of identification of the recovered drugs as methamphetamine and hydrocodone, respectively. 10.18.2017 NRP.

unsavory characters to use as CIs in order to “complete these transactions as they go forward in the, like I said, the ongoing war on drugs in this community and across the nation.” VRP 168:17-19.

At the end of the trial, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty as to Count I, guilty as to Count II, with a special verdict finding that the offense occurred within 1000 feet of a school bus stop, and guilty as to Count III. VRP 173:7-74:3; CP 71-74. Mr. Loughbom, who had no prior criminal history, was sentenced to 40 months in prison, followed by 12 months of community custody and legal financial obligations. CP 76-87.

2. The Appellate Proceedings

Following sentencing, Mr. Loughbom timely filed a direct appeal seeking reversal of his sentence on the grounds that: (1) the prosecution engaged in flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct by placing Mr. Loughbom’s case in the context of the “war on drugs”; (2) the prosecution engaged in flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct by improperly shifting the burden to Mr. Loughbom in seeking to have the jury infer guilt from his silence; (3) Mr. Loughbom was denied effective assistance of counsel due to counsel’s failure to object to the prosecution’s improper statements; (4) Mr. Loughbom was denied effective assistance of counsel due to counsel’s failure to object to (and move for mistrial on the basis of) Det. Singer’s hearsay testimony identifying Mr. Loughbom as the seller of the

controlled substances at issue; (5) the cumulative errors deprived Mr. Loughbom his right to a fair trial; and (6) the State presented insufficient evidence at trial to support the convictions.

The majority opinion of the Court of Appeals rejected these claims and affirmed Mr. Loughbom's convictions. See Attach. A. With respect to Mr. Loughbom's claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the majority opinion held that "[t]he State's repeated references to the war on drugs were imprudent, but ultimately fell short of misconduct." Attach. A at p. 5.

Justice Fearing wrote a dissenting opinion (the "Dissent") on this issue. Attach. A (Dissent) at pp. 1-40. Justice Fearing would have reversed Mr. Loughbom's convictions and remanded for a new trial due to prosecutorial misconduct in framing the prosecution of Mr. Loughbom as "yet another battle in the ongoing war on drugs..." In reaching this conclusion, Justice Fearing noted at the outset that the Court of Appeals "receives too many appeals wherein an occasional prosecutor travels beyond zealous advocacy and infringes on an accused's right to a fair trial" and that the court "like other courts, does little, if anything, to end instances of prosecutorial misconduct." Attach. A (Dissent) at p. 3. Justice Fearing noted further that the Court of Appeals has admonished prosecutors in three different decisions to refrain from invoking the "war on drugs" in drug prosecutions, twice in dicta and once forming the basis

for reversal of a conviction. Attach. A (Dissent) at p. 10 (citing State v. Perez-Mejia, 134 Wn. App. 907, 916, 143 P.3d 838 (2006); State v. Neidigh, 78 Wn. App. 71, 79, 895 P.2d 423 (1995); State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 598-99, 860 P.2d 420 (1993)). After a thorough review of courts in other jurisdictions on this issue, Justice Fearing concluded the State’s use of the “war on drugs” theme constituted flagrant and ill-intentioned prosecutorial misconduct warranting reversal in this case. Attach. A (Dissent) at pp. 25-36.

Mr. Loughbom now respectfully requests this Court’s review of the Court of Appeals’ decision pursuant to RAP 13.4.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Prosecutor Committed Flagrant and Ill-Intentioned Misconduct by Framing Mr. Loughbom’s Case as “Yet Another Battle in the War on Drugs...”

Rather than try Mr. Loughbom on the merits of the evidence, the State sought to inflame the jury’s passions by placing Mr. Loughbom’s alleged crimes in the broader context of the nationwide and local “war on drugs.” The prosecutor’s use of this tactic constituted flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct and deprived Mr. Loughbom of his constitutional right to a fair trial under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, sections 3, 21, and 22 of Washington’s Constitution. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV

§1; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 21, 22; see Echevarria, 71 Wash. App. at 598-99 (holding that the prosecutor’s references to the “war on drugs” was “flagrant and highly prejudicial,” warranting a new trial); United States v. Solivan, 937 F.2d 1146 (6th Cir. 1991) (prosecutor’s appeal to the jury to convict in order to tell the defendant and other drug dealers that the jurors did not want drugs in their community held to be reversible error).

1. Controlling Standards.

To establish that the prosecuting attorney committed misconduct during argument, Mr. Loughbom must prove that the prosecuting attorney’s remarks were both improper and prejudicial. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 443, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). “Although prosecuting attorneys have some latitude to argue facts and inferences from the evidence, they are not permitted to make prejudicial statements unsupported by the record.” State v. Jones, 144 Wn. App. 284, 293, 183 P.3d 307 (2008). It is the prosecutor’s duty to “seek a verdict free of prejudice and based on reason.” State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096 (1969). Thus, appeals to the jury’s passion and prejudice are improper. State v. Claffin, 38 Wn. App. 847, 850, 690 P.2d 1186 (1984), review denied, 103 Wn.2d 1014 (1985).

Once the Court finds that a prosecuting attorney's statements are improper, the Court must then determine whether the defendant was prejudiced under one of two standards of review. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). "If the defendant objected at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict." Id. If the defendant failed to object, "the defendant is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." Id. at 760-61.

2. The Court of Appeals has firmly established that use of "war on drugs" rhetoric constitutes prosecutorial misconduct

Applying the "flagrant and ill-intentioned" standard, the Washington Court of Appeals has condemned precisely the tactic employed by the State in Mr. Loughbom's case, calling a similar reference to the "war on drugs" "flagrant and highly prejudicial," mandating reversal and a new trial despite defense counsel's failure to object. Echevarria, 71 Wash. App. at 598-99; see also State v. Bautista-Caldera, 56 Wn. App. 186, 783 P.2d 116 (1989), review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1011 (1990) (holding it improper to exhort the jury to send a

message to society about the general problem of child abuse because the prosecution's argument should be based solely on the evidence).

In Echevarria, the prosecution told the jury in his opening argument that the trial was a part of the "war on drugs," that there is a "battlefield" in our neighborhoods, and that low-level drug dealers such as the defendant in that case were "the 'enlisted men or the recruits' who become involved in drugs 'for the power or the money or the greed or peer pressure'". Echevarria, 71 Wash. App. at 596. The prosecutor also made "oblique references to the Gulf war and the Vietnam war" in furthering its "war on drugs" narrative. Id. at 598. In finding prejudicial misconduct, the Court reasoned:

Such inflammatory remarks have no place in the opening statement. We view his extensive remarks as a blatant invitation to the jury to convict the defendant, not on basis of the evidence, but, rather, on the basis of fear and repudiation of drug dealers in general. In the current climate of public concern and fear about drugs and crime, such comments are a serious breach of the prosecutor's duty to seek a verdict based on reason and cannot be tolerated.

Id. at 598-99 (internal citations omitted).

Following the Echevarria decision, two more Court of Appeals decisions condemned a prosecutor's references to the war on drugs in dicta. In Neidigh, the Court of Appeals, addressing a related form of misconduct, noted that "exhortations to join the war against crime or

drugs” are an example of prosecutorial tactics that are “out of bounds.” Neidigh, 78 Wash. App. at 79 (citing Bennett L. Gershman, ch. 10, Forensic Misconduct (1994)). In Perez-Mejia, the Court of Appeals again condemned this tactic as “forbidden”. 134 Wn. App. at 916.

3. The prosecutor in Mr. Loughbom’s case violated the firmly established prohibition against “war on drugs” rhetoric

The prosecutor’s comments in this case are every bit as inflammatory and prejudicial as those at issue in Echevarria. They were also of the nature of those categorically condemned in Neidigh and Perez-Mejia. As in Echevarria, “[t]he prosecutor’s repeated improper references to the war on drugs set the tone for the entire trial” in Mr. Loughbom’s case. Echevarria, 71 Wash. App. at 598. As early as voir dire, the prosecutor surveyed the potential jurors regarding whether there were “any among you who believe that we have a drug problem in Lincoln County?” VRP 52:25-53:2. Apparently, every potential juror held such a belief, aside from one juror who stated that he had not yet lived in the community long enough to form an opinion on the issue. VRP 53.

Following this exchange, the first statement in the prosecution’s opening argument consisted of telling the jury “[t]he case before you today represents yet another battle in the ongoing war on drugs throughout our state and throughout our nation as a whole.” VRP 87:7-9. This statement alone warrants reversal, as “[a] prosecutor’s opening statement

should be confined to a brief statement of the issues of the case, an outline of the anticipated material evidence, and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom,” and “[a]rgument and inflammatory remarks have no place in the opening statement.” State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 15-16, 691 P.2d 929 (1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1094 (1985); State v. Kroll, 87 Wn.2d 829, 835, 558 P.2d 173 (1976).

The State thereafter proceeded to repeatedly present the “war on drugs” narrative to the jurors. The point was underscored when Det. Singer testified that CIs assist law enforcement “because they want to change or help fight the drug problem that we have in our county, most of the time.” VRP 103:23-25. The prosecutor’s closing argument again opened with the theme that Mr. Loughbom’s case was another battle in the “war on drugs.” NRP 183:4-6. Reiterating this theme yet again in rebuttal, the State told the jury that law enforcement often has to engage with unsavory characters to use as CIs in order to “complete these transactions as they go forward in the, *like I said, the ongoing war on drugs in this community and across the nation.*” VRP 168:17-19 (emphasis added).

While equally prejudicial, the comments in Mr. Loughbom’s case are substantially more flagrant and ill-intentioned than those at issue in Echevarria. Whereas the prosecutor in Echevarria could have pleaded ignorance to the fact that invoking the war on drugs in criminal

prosecutions constituted misconduct, the prosecutor in this case may not, having already been told by the Court of Appeals on three separate occasions that this tactic is “forbidden”, “out of bounds”, and constitutes “a serious breach of the prosecutor’s duty to seek a verdict based on reason”. Perez-Mejia, 134 Wn. App. at 916; Neidigh, 78 Wn. App. at 79; Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 598-99. Having been forewarned in this fashion, the prosecutor’s use of a “war on drugs” theme from voir dire through closing rebuttal cannot be deemed anything other than flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. See State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 685, 243 P.3d 936 (2010) (holding a prosecutor’s argument is flagrant and ill-intentioned when a Washington court previously recognized that same argument as improper in a published opinion); State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213-14, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996) (same).

This conclusion is bolstered further by the majority of federal and state jurisdictions to have considered the issue. See United States v. Beasley, 2 F.3d 1551, 1559-60 (11th Cir. 1993) (finding improper the prosecutor’s repeated references to the “war on drugs” and statement that “this is just another battle in that war. It’s a battle to save folks from being enslaved by crack cocaine...that’s what this battle’s about”); United States v. Johnson, 968 F.2d 768, 770-71 (8th Cir. 1992) (finding improper the prosecutor’s statement urging jurors in a narcotics case to

“stand as a bulwark against...putting this poison on the streets”); Solivan, 937 F.2d at 1148-55 (finding improper prosecutor’s statement urging jurors “to tell [defendant] and all of the other drug dealers like her...that we don’t want that stuff in Northern Kentucky...”); United States v. Hawkins, 193 U.S. App. D.C. 366, 595 F.2d 751 (D.C. Cir. 1978) cert. denied, 441 U.S. 910, 99 S. Ct. 2005, 60 L. Ed. 2d 380 (1979) (holding that prosecutors are not “at liberty to substitute emotion for evidence by equating, *directly or by innuendo*, a verdict of guilty to a blow against the drug problem”) (emphasis added). But see King v. State, 4 S.W.3d 463, 464-65 (Tex. App. 1999) (invoking war on drugs does not constitute misconduct); People v. Reid, 272 Ill. App. 3d 301, 649 N.E.2d 593, 208 Ill. Dec. 537 (1995) (same).

Inflammatory comments such as those used in the prosecution of Mr. Loughbom deprive defendants of a fair trial for reasons eloquently stated by the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals:

A prosecutor may not urge jurors to convict a criminal defendant in order to protect community values, preserve civil order, or deter future lawbreaking. The evil lurking in such prosecutorial appeals is that the defendant will be convicted for reasons wholly irrelevant to his own guilt or innocence. Jurors may be persuaded by such appeals to believe that, by convicting a defendant, they will assist in the solution of some pressing social problem. The amelioration of society’s woes is far too heavy a burden for the individual criminal defendant to bear.

United States v. Monaghan, 239 U.S. App. D.C. 275, 741 F.2d 1434 (D.C. Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1085, 85 L. Ed. 2d 146, 105 S. Ct. 1847 (1985). Further, as recognized in Solivan:

The substance of the statements made by the prosecutor in this case were designed, both in purpose and effect, to arouse passion and prejudice and to inflame the jurors' emotions regarding the War on Drugs by urging them to send a message and strike a blow to the drug problem.

Solivan, 937 F.2d at 1153. The reasoning in Echevarria, Solivan, and Monaghan applies precisely to the prosecutor's improper comments in this case. Mr. Loughbom was improperly made to bear the burden of society's woes and the jurors were compelled to strike a blow against the broader drug problem by entering guilty verdicts against him. As such, the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no instruction could have cured the resulting prejudice. See Solivan, 937 F.2d 1146 (holding no curative instruction could have remedied the prosecution's improper "war on drugs" references); State v. Draughn, 76 Ohio App. 3d 664, 602 N.E.2d 790 (1992) (same).

4. The Court of Appeals applied flawed reasoning in seeking to distinguish Echevarria

The Court of Appeals' attempt at distinguishing Echevarria and permitting a "war on drugs" narrative is confounding. The Court of Appeals held the comments in this case distinguishable because "[t]he State's references to the war on drugs were not made in the context of

arguing why the jury should convict”, but rather “appears to have mentioned the war on drugs in order to deflect potential anti-government bias.” Attach A. at p. 5-6. The Court of Appeals points to no facts in the record that would support this conclusion and no reason why the comments in Mr. Loughbom’s case should be treated differently from those in Echevarria. Further, despite Mr. Loughbom’s reliance on Echevarria in the proceedings below, the State failed in its Response Brief to even cite the case, much less meaningfully distinguish its facts.

By presenting this case from the outset as “yet another battle in the ongoing war on drugs throughout our state and throughout our nation as a whole”, and persisting with this theme all the way through to closing rebuttal, the prosecution pursued a conscious strategy to portray Mr. Loughbom as an enemy in the war on drugs and thereby increase the likelihood of conviction. Nothing in the record suggests there was a “potential anti-government bias” the State needed to counteract. Attach A. at p. 5-6. To the contrary, the jury appeared to be uniquely susceptible to emotional “war on drugs” appeals, as every potential juror agreed in voir dire that “we have a drug problem in Lincoln County” with the exception of one potential juror who recently moved to the county and was unaware of the extent of drug activity. VRP 52:25-53:3.

The basis of the Court of Appeals’ reasoning appears to be that the government had a legitimate reason for employing the war on drugs theme in order to overcome the fact that its case rested on the credibility of an unsavory and self-interested CI. Attach A. at p. 6 (“it appears the prosecutor sought to address concerns about why the government might be involved in the unsavory business of undercover drug buys and the use of criminal informants”). This reasoning must be firmly rejected. As a preliminary matter, Echevarria also involved “undercover drug buys”, and thus cannot be distinguished in this respect. Echevarria, 71 Wash. App. at 596 (“This case involves an undercover drug buy in downtown Seattle”).

More importantly, the fact that the State’s case relied on “unsavory” use of a CI cannot serve as grounds for lenience towards prosecutorial argument otherwise deemed improper. It is precisely in the face of such evidentiary weaknesses that courts must be particularly vigilant in holding prosecutors accountable for improper argument.

A 2010 Innocence Project report observed that among the first 255 DNA exoneration cases, 63 of the exonerated prisoners had previously raised issues of prosecutorial misconduct on appeal or in civil proceedings. See Emily M. West, Court Findings of Prosecutorial Misconduct Claims in Post-Conviction Appeals and Civil Suits Among

the First 255 DNA Exonerations, Innocence Project (2010)². Of these 63 individuals, the courts found prosecutorial misconduct in 30 cases, with only 13 of these leading to reversals. Id. Forty-six of the 63 misconduct claims involved claims of improper argument, with the court finding harmless error in 26 cases and harmful error leading to reversals in only 5 cases. Id. at 5. In other words, appellate courts denied new trials to 41 of 46 actually innocent prisoners who claimed that improper argument was a cause of their wrongful convictions.

An additional factor implicated in wrongful convictions is the government's reliance upon informants, which was a factor in 17% of wrongful convictions. Innocence Project, DNA Exonerations in the United States, <https://www.innocenceproject.org/dna-exonerations-in-the-united-states/> (accessed on June 30, 2019). Thus, the combination of inherently unreliable informant testimony and prosecutorial misconduct is the perfect storm for wrongful convictions, the most grotesque injustice that occurs in our criminal justice system. See, e.g., In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 372, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970) (Harlan, J., concurring) ("[I]t is far worse to convict an innocent man than to let a guilty man go free."); William Blackstone, 4 Commentaries *352 ("[B]etter that ten guilty

² Available at https://www.innocenceproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/pmc_appeals_255_final_oct_2011.pdf (last accessed on July 1, 2019).

persons escape, than that one innocent suffer.") Reasoning, as the Court of Appeals did, that the government's "unsavory" use of an informant justifies inflammatory "war on drugs" rhetoric takes one factor associated with wrongful convictions to justify another. The illogic and danger of this reasoning is manifest.

5. The weaknesses in the State's case against Mr. Loughbom further support reversal.

It is submitted that the State's flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct in this case warrants reversal irrespective of the strength of its case against Mr. Loughbom for the reasons set forth above. See State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 477, 341 P.3d 976 (2015) (focusing on the prosecutorial misconduct and its impact rather than the sufficiency of the State's evidence in reversing a murder conviction). Nonetheless, the weaknesses in the State's case here provide further support for reversal of Mr. Loughbom's case because the prosecutor's misconduct may well have been the difference between conviction and acquittal. See State v. Barry, 183 Wn.2d 297, 303, 352 P.3d 161 (2015) (looking to the strength of the State's case in assessing whether a curative instruction could have remedied prosecutorial misconduct).

Aside from the prosecutor's inflammatory remarks, the convictions against Mr. Loughbom depended entirely upon the testimony of an unreliable CI seeking leniency from the prosecutor's office, and also


possibly trying to protect his “friend,” “Kevin,” while implicating someone he did not know. None of the direct evidence ordinarily obtained in “controlled buys” was presented at trial against Mr. Loughbom. The State did not recover the marked money, did not record the conversations surrounding the transactions, and did not present any physical evidence connecting Mr. Loughbom to the transactions. The officers did not observe the transactions, or even see Mr. Loughbom at the scene. Given these gaping holes in the prosecution’s case, it is reasonably likely that Mr. Loughbom would not have been found guilty beyond reasonable doubt but for the prosecutor’s misconduct. Accordingly, no curative instruction could have ameliorated the prejudice and Mr. Loughbom is entitled to reversal of his convictions.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Loughbom respectfully requests that this Court grant discretionary review of the Court of Appeals’ decision pursuant to RAP 13.4 and remand for a new trial.