FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/31/2019 10:12 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97443-8

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

GREGG A. LOUGHBOM Petitioner

## **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Court of Appeals, No 35668-0-III Lincoln County, No 17-1-00028-8

> JEFFREY S. BARKDULL Prosecuting Attorney Lincoln County, Washington

By: ADAM WALSER WSBA #50566 SPECIAL DEPUTY PROSECUTOR Lincoln County PO Box 874 Davenport, WA 99122 (509)725-4040

## **

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

#### II. ARGUMENT

# A. The Comments of the Prosecutor Were Neither Flagrant nor Ill-Intentioned

The Prosecutor's comments at issue in the Petitioner's brief were well within acceptable bounds of argument by a prosecutor. The decision of the Appellate Court was in keeping with the prior decision of both

itself, the other Appellate Courts and the Washington State Supreme Court. Petitioner's brief asks this Court to carve out an entirely new standard, which would effectively pronounce any utterance of the words "war on drugs" as a spring board to mandatory reversal, regardless of intent, context or prejudicial effect.

#### 1. Legal Standard

"A defendant who alleges improper conduct on the part of a prosecutor must first establish the prosecutor's improper conduct and, second, its prejudicial effect." *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn. App. 559, 578. (2005). If an appellant is able to establish that the prosecutor's conduct was improper, "prejudice is established only if there is a substantial likelihood the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628 (citing *State v. Evans*, 96 Wn.2d 1, 5, 633 P.2d 83 (1981)).

"When alleged error can be obviated by asking the court to give a corrective instruction or admonition, the defendant has a duty to make that request." <u>State v. Crawford</u>, 21 Wn. App. 146, 152-153 (1978) (Citing <u>State v. Brown</u>, 74 Wn.2d 799, 447 P.2d 82 (1968); <u>State v. Green</u>, 70 Wn.2d 955 (1967); <u>State v. Webster</u>, 20 Wn. App. 128 (1978)). "Unless

prosecutorial conduct is flagrant and ill intentioned, and the prejudice resulting therefrom so marked and enduring that corrective instructions or admonitions could not neutralize its effect, any objection to such conduct is waived by failure to make an adequate timely objection and request a curative instruction." *State v. Charlton*, 90 Wn.2d 657, 661 (1978) (Citing *State v. Morris*, 70 Wn.2d 27, 33 (1966); *State v. Huson*, 73 Wn.2d 660 (1968); *State v. Music*, 79 Wn.2d 699, 489 P.2d 159 (1971)).

The Washington State Supreme Court has held that a prosecutor's comments should be reviewed "in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the jury instructions." *State v. Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d 533, 540 (1990). The burden of establishing that the comments were improper is upon Appellant. *State v. Watkins*, 53 Wn. App. 264, 275 (1989).

# 2. In Context, the Comments Which Referenced the "War on Drugs" Were Neither Flagrant nor Ill Intentioned.

The determinative factor within the case law cited by Petitioner, is not whether a prosecutor merely stated the magic words "war on drugs." Instead, it is the intended end to which that utterance was a means. This Court has described the prohibited conduct as a Prosecutor asking the jury

to reach a verdict based upon their emotion, rather than their judgment of the evidence. see *Echevarria*, 71 Wash. App. At 598-99; *United States v. Solivan*, 937 F.2d 1146 (6th Cir. 1991).

As stated in the Appellate Court's ruling, the Prosecutor's statements "were imprudent, but ultimately fell short of misconduct." Petitioner's Brief Attachment A. at p. 5. When read in "the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the jury instructions" the Prosecutor's comments were made with reasonable intentions and were well within the bounds of appropriate argument. *Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d at 540. None was associated with a call for "inflame the jurors' emotions" or "urge them to send a message" as was the case in *Solivan*. 937 F.2d at 1153. None were made based on a desire to "urge jurors to convict ... in order to protect community values, preserve civil order, or deter future lawbreaking" as was the case in *United States v Monaghan*. 239 F.2d 1434. None of the Prosecutor's statements were "a blatant invitation to the jury to convict the defendant ... on the basis of fear and repudiation of drug dealers in general" as was the case in *Echevarria*. 71 Wash. App. at 598-99.

The common stain present in all cases cited by Petitioner are a

prosecutor intentionally and improperly stoking the jury's emotions. The same stain was simply not present at the trial of the Petitioner.

# 3. Petitioner's Brief Asks this Court to Establish a New and Extreme Precedent

Petitioner's brief presents itself as a simple request to uphold existing case law. But instead, it is a request to carve out a dramatically new, and far more restrictive, rule. As described above, the case law cited in Petitioner's brief contains a common theme. Each involves the prosecutor's "blatant invitation to the jury to convict the defendant ... on the basis of fear and repudiation of drug dealers in general." *Echevarria*, at 598-99. The matter presently before this Court contained no such invitation by the Prosecutor.

The comments by the Prosecutor in this matter, while ill advised, were exceedingly benign when compared to those in the relevant controlling case law. Granting of Petitioner's requested relief would result in a new, and far more restrictive rule. This rule would effectively declare any mention of the "war on drugs," by a prosecutor, as instantaneous grounds for reversal. Comments which relate to the "war on drugs" may be perilous ground for a prosecutor to tread, but no court cited by

Petitioner has held that this ground is universally forbidden. Petitioner's requested relief, if granted, would create just that rule.

### **III. CONCLUSION**

The Prosecutor's remarks regarding the war on drugs were neither inflammatory or ill intentioned. The decision of the Court of Appeals was consistent with the prior decisions of the other Appellate Divisions and the Washington State Supreme Court. Consequently, Petitioner's request for discretionary review should be denied.